THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

APPEAL FROM THE SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

JUN 30 2016

SC Court of Appeals

WCC #0912295
Appellate Case No. 2016-000853

Nikolay GulClaimant, Appellant,

v.

Kohler CompanyRespondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Grady L. Beard
Robert E. Horner
Sowell Gray Stepp & Laffitte, LLC
P.O. Box 11449
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 231-7829
gbeard@sowellgray.com
bhorner@sowellgray.com

Attorneys for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Whether the Workers' Compensation Commission's Single Commissioner and Appellate Panel clearly erred, abused their discretion or exercised arbitrary or clearly unwarranted discretion in determining Appellant does not have asthma by failing to consider, and affording "no weight" to, the medical records, evaluations and medical opinions of Dr. Feldman, Appellant's long-time treating physician?

II. Whether the Workers' Compensation Commission's Single Commissioner and Appellate Panel clearly erred, abused their discretion or exercised arbitrary or clearly unwarranted discretion by concluding as a matter of law that Appellant's asthma did not arise out of, and in the course of employment of, his employment with Respondent Kohler Company?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a Workers' Compensation case. Appellant Nikolay Gul (hereinafter "Gul") was initially awarded Worker's Compensation benefits in 2013 for contracting the occupational disease of asthma from his use of Acetic Acid as required by his job at Respondent Kohler Company, as ordered by Commissioner Derrick L. Williams, whose Decision and Order granting compensation was filed on January 25, 2013.¹

Commissioner Williams ordered Kohler Company (hereinafter "Kohler") to pay Gul Workers' Compensation benefits beginning on September 18, 2011 in the amount of Four Hundred Seventy-Nine Dollars and 82/100 (\$479.82) per week and ordered Kohler to pay Gul's medical, hospital, surgical, doctors' and nurses' bills incurred as a direct result of Gul's work-induced asthma.² Commissioner Williams also ordered Kohler to be responsible for medical costs directly related to his occupational asthma.³

Specifically, and in terms of the basis for his Decision and Order, Commissioner Williams found that "it is undisputed that Claimant worked with Acetic Acid in his job at Kohler on a regular basis."⁴ Commissioner Williams then found that "The greater weight of the evidence supports that Claimant has met his burden of establishing that he suffered compensable injuries to his lungs resulting from his exposure to Acetic Acid during the course and scope of his duties at Kohler."⁵ As a basis for his Decision and Order, Commissioner Williams considered and weighed the

¹ Commissioner Williams' Decision and Order, p. 15, ROA_____.

² Commissioner Williams' Decision and Order, p. 15, ROA_____.

³ Commissioner Williams' Decision and Order, p. 15, ROA_____.

⁴ Commissioner Williams' Decision and Order, p. 13, ROA_____.

⁵ Commissioner Williams' Decision and Order, p. 14, ROA_____.

evidence, including the medical opinions of Dr. Greg Feldman, Dr. Charles Fogarty and Dr. Steven Sahn, and concluded that

Claimant's treating physician, Dr. Feldman (pulmonologist), has treated Claimant extensively since 2009, and continues to treat Claimant for asthma. Dr. Feldman's testing and treatment clearly shows Claimant has an asthmatic condition, and that this condition was caused by his exposure to Acetic Acid at Kohler. Dr. Feldman's diagnosis of asthma is further supported by records from Spartanburg Regional Medical Center, where claimant was diagnosed with asthma on three occasions and underwent bronchoscopies in 2010 and 2011.

The undersigned Commissioner does not discount the opinions of Dr. Fogarty and Dr. Sahn. However, Dr. Feldman's testing and treatment were nearer to the exposure, and Dr. Feldman was not paid to offer any opinions in this instance.⁶

By the time Commissioner Williams awarded Workers' Compensation to Gul, Dr. Feldman had already seen, evaluated and treated Gul for work-related asthma numerous times.⁷ However, Gul had only been evaluated by Dr. Fogarty and Dr. Sahn one time each, respectively, due to the insistence of Kohler's attorneys.⁸

After Kohler terminated its original attorneys handling the case and subsequently hired different attorneys, Kohler appealed Commissioner Williams' Decision and Order.⁹ The Appellate Panel of the Workers' Compensation Commission thereafter, on September 10, 2013, vacated the Decision and Order of Commissioner Williams and ordered a *de novo* hearing before another

⁶ Commissioner Williams' Decision and Order, pp. 13-14, ROA _____.

⁷ Commissioner Williams' Decision and Order, pp. 8-14, ROA _____.

⁸ Gul's APA's # 3 and # 5 for April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, ROA _____.

⁹ Consent Order Substituting Counsel, ROA _____.

Single Commissioner, due to, *inter alia*, any additional discovery the new attorneys for Kohler apparently deemed necessary to defend Kohler.¹⁰

After the Appellate Panel's Order allowed the parties (and Kohler's new attorneys) to conduct additional discovery as necessary for a further *de novo* hearing in front of a different Single Commissioner, Gul continued to seek medical care and treatment for his work-related asthma as provided by Dr. Feldman, his treating physician.¹¹ However, after having the opportunity to do so, Kohler and its new attorneys never requested that Gul be evaluated again by any other physician, including Dr. Fogarty or Dr. Sahn.¹²

By the time the *de novo* hearing occurred in front of Single Commissioner T. Scott Beck on April 22, 2015, no new medical evaluations by Dr. Fogarty or Dr. Sahn took place.¹³ The only additional medical evidence included further evaluations and treatment by Dr. Feldman for Gul's continued work-related asthma.¹⁴

Despite the fact that no new medical evaluations were conducted at the request of Kohler or its new attorneys (other than the increasing evidence by Dr. Feldman's care of Gul's work-related asthma), Commissioner Beck not only found that Gul's asthma did not arise out of, and in the course of, his employment with Kohler, Commissioner Beck ruled that Gul did not even suffer from asthma at all.¹⁵ Further, Commissioner Beck relied exclusively on Dr. Fogarty's and Dr.

¹⁰ WCC Appellate Panel's Decision and Order filed on September 10, 2013, p. 10, ROA ____.

¹¹ Gul's APA's # 1 for April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, ROA ____.

¹² Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 26-27, ROA ____.

¹³ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 26-27, ROA ____.

¹⁴ Gul's APA's # 1 for April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, ROA ____.

¹⁵ Commissioner Beck's Decision and Order, pp. 36-38, ROA ____.

Sahn's one-time medical evaluations conducted by pay, during litigation, and at the request of Kohler's attorneys.¹⁶ In other words, no new medical evidence supportive of Kohler's position occurred between Commissioner Williams' award of compensation to Gul and Commissioner Beck's denial of compensation to Gul.

Not only did Commissioner Beck effectively reverse the decision of Commissioner Williams, Commissioner Beck based his Decision and Order on the exact same medical evidence considered by Commissioner Williams with no new supporting medical evidence weighing in Kohler's favor.¹⁷ Commissioner Beck did not even consider Dr. Feldman's numerous evaluations and extensive treatment for Gul's work-related asthma, as Commissioner Beck gave Dr. Feldman's medical evaluations, extensive treatments and medical opinions "no weight."¹⁸ Commissioner Beck also considered arguments from Kohler's new attorneys inferring that Dr. Feldman was not credible because of his Russian origin.¹⁹ As a result of these considerations, Commissioner Beck denied Workers' Compensation benefits to Gul.²⁰ Of note, Commissioner Beck had previously been represented by and was a former client of Kohler's new attorneys.²¹

Gul timely filed a Form 30, appealing Commissioner Beck's filed August 7, 2015 Decision and Order.²² After briefs for Gul and Kohler were timely filed, the Appellate Panel held a Review Hearing on January 12, 2016 in Columbia, SC, during which, once again, Kohler's new attorneys

¹⁶ Commissioner Beck's Decision and Order, pp. 34-36, ROA_____.

¹⁷ Commissioner Beck's Decision and Order, ROA_____.

¹⁸ Commissioner Beck's Decision and Order, p. 34, ROA_____.

¹⁹ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 140-141, ROA_____.

²⁰ Commissioner Beck's Decision and Order, pp. 36-39, ROA_____.

²¹ Commissioner Beck's Decision and Order, p. 6, ROA_____.

²² WCC Form 30, ROA_____.

essentially argued that, *inter alia*, Dr. Feldman was not credible because of his Russian origin.²³ On March 23, 2016, the Appellate Panel of the Workers' Compensation Commission filed its Decision and Order, denying Gul his initially-awarded Workers' Compensation benefits and adopting "as if repeated verbatim" Commissioner Beck's August 7, 2015 Decision and Order.²⁴

This appeal by Gul timely followed.²⁵

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Gul worked at Kohler from 2004 through August 25, 2009 as a machine operator.²⁶ Much of his time working at Kohler – in fact, daily – involved his direct use of, and exposure to, Acetic Acid in the workplace.²⁷ Specifically, Gul worked on the Kitchen Sink machine during the last four (4) months he worked at Kohler.²⁸ He did not use Acetic Acid on this machine, but he directly used it on other machines with which he was helping other coworkers during this period.²⁹ For one and a half (1½) years prior to the Kitchen Sink job, Gul worked on Cover Machine #5, and he directly used Acetic Acid with this machine.³⁰ For one and a half (1½) years prior to the Cover Machine #5 job, Gul worked on Small Machines, and he directly used Acetic Acid during that job.³¹ For one and a half (1½) years prior to the Small Machines job, Gul worked on Cover

²³ Transcript of January 12, 2016 WCC Hearing, pp. 24-26, ROA ____.

²⁴ WCC Appellate Panel's Decision and Order filed on March 23, 2016, ROA ____.

²⁵ Notice of Appeal, ROA ____.

²⁶ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 11-12, ROA ____.

²⁷ Deposition of Rodney Horne, pp. 15-17, ROA ____.

²⁸ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 12-13, ROA ____.

²⁹ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 12-13, ROA ____.

³⁰ Transcript of December 5, 2012 WCC Hearing, p. 9, ROA ____.

³¹ Transcript of December 5, 2012 WCC Hearing, p. 9, ROA ____.

Machine #2, on which he directly used Acetic Acid.³² For almost the entirety of his time working at Kohler from 2004 to 2009, Gul directly used Acetic Acid as required by Kohler.³³

Gul stopped working at Kohler because he started developing medical problems.³⁴ His symptoms appeared to be cardiopulmonary-related, and he began seeking medical care to diagnose his concerns.³⁵ At first, it appeared his medical problems may have been cardiac-related, but multiple and extensive workups from multiple physicians, including cardiologists, eventually revealed that he did not have a cardiac problem.³⁶ Rather, the evidence shows that Gul had a pulmonary (lung) problem instead.³⁷ All of his lung problems started while he worked for Kohler.³⁸ According to the medical records, Gul has been diagnosed with severe asthma.³⁹ Gul did not have asthma before working at Kohler.⁴⁰ He began having symptoms while working for Kohler, and the only exogenous (external) agent causing lung problems in his life was Acetic Acid, itself a known lung irritant and asthma-inducer.⁴¹ In fact, Kohler no longer uses Acetic Acid for this reason.⁴² Because the evidence indicated that Gul developed asthma from his frequent use of

³² Transcript of December 5, 2012 WCC Hearing, pp. 9-10, ROA ____.

³³ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 12-13, ROA ____.

³⁴ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 13-14 ROA ____.

³⁵ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 21-24, ROA ____.

³⁶ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 21-24, ROA ____.

³⁷ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 21-24, ROA ____.

³⁸ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 13-16, ROA ____.

³⁹ Gul's APA's # 1 for April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, ROA ____.

⁴⁰ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 13-16, ROA ____.

⁴¹ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 13-16, ROA ____.

⁴² Deposition of Michael Tolleson, pp. 21-25, 31-32, ROA ____.

Acetic Acid during most of the days he worked for Kohler for five (5) straight years, Gul sought Workers' Compensation benefits commensurate with his work-related medical problems.⁴³

More specifically, Gul began noticing that his lung problems (shortness of breath, sputum production and tightness in his chest) increased starting in 2007-2008.⁴⁴ The evidence establishes that during this period, Gul used Acetic Acid every day approximately fifteen (15) or more times per shift.⁴⁵ He used the spray bottle to spray molds (which took between 10-15 seconds per mold) and the entire machines (which took 1½ – 2 minutes per machine).⁴⁶ Gul used about five (5) bottles per shift when using the larger spray bottles, and he used ten (10) or more bottles per shift when using the smaller spray bottles.⁴⁷

By 2009, Gul's lung symptoms of shortness of breath, coughing and chest tightness were getting worse.⁴⁸ Dr. T. Christian Nowatka, Gul's primary care physician, thought that perhaps Gul had a heart condition, so he (Dr. Nowatka) prescribed medications therefor.⁴⁹ However, Gul's symptoms and medical problems did not improve.⁵⁰ Gul also underwent heart tests in 2009, but all of which revealed that he did not have a heart problem.⁵¹

⁴³ WCC Form 50, ROA_____.

⁴⁴ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 15-16, ROA_____.

⁴⁵ Transcript of December 5, 2012 WCC Hearing, p. 16, ROA_____.

⁴⁶ Transcript of December 5, 2012 WCC Hearing, p. 16, ROA_____.

⁴⁷ Transcript of December 5, 2012 WCC Hearing, p. 17, ROA_____.

⁴⁸ Transcript of December 5, 2012 WCC Hearing, p. 18, ROA_____.

⁴⁹ Transcript of December 5, 2012 WCC Hearing, p. 20, ROA_____.

⁵⁰ Transcript of December 5, 2012 WCC Hearing, p. 20, ROA_____.

⁵¹ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 21-24, ROA_____.

Gul subsequently saw another primary care physician, Dr. Mathew D. Cannon, who ultimately referred Gul to Dr. Gregory J. Feldman, a triple board-certified physician who specializes in pulmonary medicine and critical care.⁵² Dr. Feldman first examined Gul in September of 2009 and diagnosed him with asthma, likely work-related due to his continuous exposure to Acetic Acid over time.⁵³ Dr. Feldman prescribed medications for Gul, which initially helped, but as is frequently the case of patients with asthma, Gul had acute asthma attacks at various times and required hospitalizations.⁵⁴ Dr. Feldman performed bronchoscopies on two of those occasions, finding that Gul's airways exhibited inflammation, constriction and mucus, thereby making it difficult for Gul to breathe.⁵⁵ Dr. Feldman has seen, evaluated and treated Gul more than fifty (50) times since 2009.⁵⁶ Dr. Feldman, a specialist in pulmonary medicine, is of the opinion to "a high degree of certainty" and "without question" that Gul has asthma directly caused by his workplace exposure to Acetic Acid while working for Kohler.⁵⁷ Dr. Feldman stated that "As his treating pulmonologist, it continues to be my opinion, based upon a reasonable degree of medical certainty, this patient's exposure to Acetic Acid at Kohler most probably resulted in him developing occupational asthma."⁵⁸

Since filing his claim, and at Kohler's request, Gul saw Kohler's physician Dr. Charles M. Fogarty, a pulmonologist in Spartanburg and a competitor of Dr. Feldman's pulmonology

⁵² Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 24, ROA_____.

⁵³ Gul's APA's # 1 for April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, ROA_____.

⁵⁴ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 25-26, ROA_____.

⁵⁵ Gul's APA's # 4 for April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, ROA_____.

⁵⁶ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 26, ROA_____.

⁵⁷ Gul's APA's # 1 for April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, ROA_____.

⁵⁸ Gul's APA's # 1 for April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, ROA_____.

practice.⁵⁹ The evidence shows that Dr. Fogarty, during the times at issue in this case, was himself in litigation against Dr. Feldman.⁶⁰ Dr. Fogarty only saw and evaluated Gul one time, and opined that Dr. Feldman's long-standing patient – Gul – did not even have asthma, despite the fact that Dr. Feldman evaluated and treated Gul many times, and performed multiple invasive lung procedures (bronchoscopies) at Spartanburg Regional Medical Center, all of which confirmed the diagnosis of asthma.⁶¹

Gul was also seen and evaluated by Kohler's suggested physician, Dr. Steven A. Sahn in Charleston.⁶² Dr. Sahn only evaluated Gul one time.⁶³ Dr. Sahn opined that Gul did not have asthma, but instead thought he had a heart condition, so he referred Gul to a cardiologist to help determine Gul's cardiopulmonary problems.⁶⁴ Notably, and importantly, Dr. Sahn did not have all of Gul's medical records.⁶⁵ In fact, and most importantly, he did not have nor review the many medical records of Dr. Feldman, whose pulmonology records were extensive since he had seen Gul many times.⁶⁶

Per Dr. Sahn's recommendation, Gul subsequently was given a complete cardiac evaluation by cardiologist Dr. Joseph E. Mobley on December 15, 2011.⁶⁷ Dr. Mobley noted that

⁵⁹ Gul's APA's # 5 for April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, ROA_____.

⁶⁰ Deposition of Dr. Feldman, p. 7, ROA_____.

⁶¹ Gul's APA's # 5 for April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, ROA_____.

⁶² Gul's APA's # 3 for April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, ROA_____.

⁶³ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 26-27, ROA_____.

⁶⁴ Gul's APA's # 3 for April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, ROA_____.

⁶⁵ Deposition of Dr. Feldman, pp. 80-82, ROA_____.

⁶⁶ Deposition of Dr. Feldman, pp. 80-82, ROA_____.

⁶⁷ Gul's APA's # 2 for April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, ROA_____.

Gul's EKG was unremarkable and also documented the following: "Dyspnea, questionable etiology, appears most likely pulmonary related given my history and physical examination. No current evidence of volume overload on my examination to suggest congestive heart failure as a component here."⁶⁸ Dr. Mobley further noted that "[Gul] has long-standing dyspnea at this point, which appears most likely pulmonary related," and that "his symptoms of chest pain are clearly atypical, pleuritic and are likely related to underlying pulmonary pathology, possibly asthma," leading him to conclude the following:

...from a cardiac perspective, I would not recommend further cardiac evaluation, but instead would concentrate more on pulmonary treatment especially as treatment with Prednisone and Ventolin inhalers seem to be improving his symptoms currently, which would go against a cardiac component.⁶⁹

Kohler never sought or offered any cardiac evaluations that contradict those of Dr. Mobley, which are undisputed. Currently, and consistent with Dr. Mobley's findings, Gul's medical problems are pulmonary-related, due to work-induced asthma, an occupational disease.⁷⁰

Gul has never returned to work per doctor's orders.⁷¹ Specifically, Dr. Feldman, as his treating physician, has ordered him not to go back to work due to his work-induced asthma.⁷² On August 16, 2012, Dr. Feldman completed a Form 14B providing that Claimant has "severe asthma" and assigning a 65% impairment to both lungs, stating that Claimant is unable to return to work

⁶⁸ Gul's APA's # 2 for April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, ROA ____.

⁶⁹ Gul's APA's # 2 for April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, ROA ____.

⁷⁰ Gul's APA's # 1 for April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, ROA ____.

⁷¹ Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 26-27, ROA ____.

⁷² Transcript of April 22, 2015 WCC Hearing, pp. 26-27, ROA ____.

and will need future medical care.⁷³ Since that time, Dr. Feldman has continuously treated Gul.⁷⁴ Dr. Feldman stated in his deposition that Gul, due to his asthma, is “100% impaired...It’s 100%. Because he wouldn’t be able to hold a job...He’s getting worse. He’s not getting better.”⁷⁵

Because Gul’s initial award of Workers’ Compensation benefits was subsequently denied by Commissioner Beck, whose Order was adopted by the Appellate Panel, Gul hereby appeals for the reasons stated herein.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

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