THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA  
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

---

WCC File No. 0912295

Court of Appeals Case No. 2016-000853

---

Nikolay Gul, Claimant.....Appellant,

v.

**Kohler Company**

.....Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT  
KOHLER COMPANY**

---

Grady L. Beard  
Nicolas Haigler  
Jasmine D. Smith  
Sowell Gray Stepp & Laffitte, LLC  
1310 Gadsden Street  
Post Office Box 11449  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211  
(803) 929-1400

Attorneys for Respondent

##

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

### ARGUMENT

Appellant relied solely on Dr. Feldman’s opinions to show he in fact suffered from asthma and his asthma arose out of and in the course of his employment with Kohler. On the contrary, however, multiple board-certified physicians concluded Appellant did not have asthma. Those physicians include Appellant’s family physician, Dr. Nowatka, (**R. pp. 566-71**) who examined Appellant most contemporaneously with the alleged onset of symptoms, Dr. Fogarty (**R. p. 560**), and Dr. Sahn. (**R. p. 506**). Without the opinion of Dr. Feldman, Appellant is left trying to circumvent the substantial evidence rule by arguing the Full Commission’s decision was affected by an error of law.

#### **I. Appellant’s arguments are not properly preserved for review.**

As an initial matter, Kohler submits Appellant’s arguments are not preserved for review before this Court as the Full Commission erred in finding Appellant’s arguments were preserved for review. Appeals to the Full Commission are governed in part by South Carolina Regulation 67-701(A)(3). This regulation states, “The grounds for appeal must be set out in detail on the Form 30

in the form of questions presented." Subsection (A)(3)(a) further requires that "[e]ach question presented must be concise and concern one finding of fact, conclusion of law, or other proposition the appellant believes is in error."

Here, Appellant did not identify any specific findings of fact or conclusions of law in the grounds he included in his *pro se* Form 30 Notice of Appeal. (R. p. 131). Instead, in his Form 30, Appellant only alleged the following three errors: (1) "No Dr. Feldman medical records were never [sic] sent to MUSC-Dr. Sahn"; (2) he "[r]ecently found that Dr. Fogarty is in ongoing litigation with [his] treating physician Dr. Feldman and has big bias – not disclosed inaccurate medical conclusion"; and (3) "[i]neffective assistance of [his] attorney." (*Id.*). After filing the Form 30, Appellant retained his current attorney who briefed nine unrelated issues and argued before the Full Commission on his behalf. (R. pp. 132-66, 1422-27, 1433-40, 1448-51).

Kohler argued the issues briefed by Appellant's counsel were not the issues raised in Appellant's Form 30 and therefore the issues were not preserved and Commissioner Beck's findings of fact and conclusions of law were the law of the case. (R. pp. 171, 182-84, 1422, 1427-30). The Full Commission found Appellant "sufficiently raised issues in his Form 30 related to the credibility of the witnesses and physician testimony, records, or reports, including any issues of bias, to the extent such bias could impact the credibility of the witnesses before" Commissioner Beck. (R. p. 85). Therefore, the Full Commission "considered all of the evidence in light of the issues raised by [Appellant] that the [Commissioner Beck] erred in his credibility determinations." (R. p. 86) The Full Commission erred as matter of law.

The facts of this case are similar to a recent South Carolina Supreme Court case, *Hilton v. Flakeboard Am. Ltd.*, Op. No. 27670 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Oct. 12, 2016) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 39 at 19). In *Hilton*, after an unfavorable decision by the single commissioner, the employer

appealed to the full commission raising four “‘General Exceptions’ and 102 specific exceptions to the single commissioner's order.” *Id.* “Neither the four general exceptions nor the 102 specific exceptions raised issues of competency, the appointment of a Guardian ad Litem, or any claim that [the employer] had been denied its right to have Hilton evaluated by a physician of its choice.” *Id.* Nevertheless, the full commission vacated and remanded the matter to the single commissioner for the single commissioner to make a determination as to Hilton’s competency and his need of a Guardian ad Litem. *Id.* The full commission also ordered the employer to send Hilton to a neurologist of its choice for an evaluation. *Id.*

Hilton appealed and our supreme court remanded “the matter to the Commission for consideration *only* of [the employer]’s 102 specific exceptions to the single commissioner's order raised in the Form 30.” *Id.* (emphasis added). The Court rejected the employer's claim that its four general exceptions raised these issues to the Commission, finding that argument “is contrary to this Court's jurisprudence.” *Id.* at n.2. The Court noted, “Each issue raised to the Commission must be done with specificity, not through blanket general exceptions.” *Id.*

Here as in *Hilton*, Appellant’s three alleged errors listed on the Form 30 were so broad that it was impossible to interpret the form as actually appealing any of Commissioner Beck’s findings of fact and conclusions of law. (**R. p. 131**). Although Appellant completed the Form 30 *pro se*, he was expected to complete it in compliance with the workers’ compensation rules and regulations. *See State v. Owens*, 124 S.C. 220, 117 S.E. 536, 537 (1922) (quoting 8 R. C. L., p. 83, § 39) (“[A] trial conducted by the defendant himself is to be treated in every way as though he had been represented by counsel.”). Moreover, the nine separate grounds for appeal included in the Full Commission brief of Appellant were not even remotely close to the issues Appellant raised in the Form 30. (**R. pp. 131-166**). Therefore, Appellant’s issues were not properly preserved for review

by the Full Commission and Commissioner Beck's findings of fact and conclusions of law became the law of the case. "Only issues raised to the Commission within the application for review of the single commissioner's order are preserved for review." *Hilton*, at \*19; *see also Ham v. Mullins Lumber Co.*, 193 S.C. 66, 7 S.E.2d 712 (1952) (holding all findings of fact and law by a single commissioner become and are the law of the case, unless within the scope of the appellant's exception to the full commission); *Brunson v. Am. Koyo Bearings*, 367 S.C. 161, 165, 623 S.E.2d 870, 872 (Ct. App. 2005) (holding the findings of fact and law by the single commissioner become and are the law of the case unless excepted to by appellant (*abrogated in part on other grounds by Bone v. U.S. Food Service*, 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E.2d 552 (2013))); *Green v. City of Columbia*, 311 S.C. 78, 80, 427 S.E.2d 685 (Ct. App. 1993) (holding the findings of fact and law by the single commissioner become the law of the case, unless within the scope of the appellant's exception to the single commissioner's order (*abrogated in part on other grounds by Bone v. U.S. Food Service*, 404 S.C. 67, 744 S.E.2d 552 (2013))).

The issues raised on appeal are not the three specific issues raised in Appellant's Form 30 (R. p. 131); therefore, they should not have been considered by the Full Commission. Accordingly, Appellant's current arguments also are not preserved for review before this Court. *See Hilton*, at \*19 ("This Court has also held that general exceptions, such as 'the commission erred in making an award,' are too ambiguous to fulfill the notice requirements of due process and do not preserve an issue for review." (quoting *Jones v. Anderson Cotton Mills*, 205 S.C. 247, 31 S.E.2d 447 (1944))); *see also Wall v. C. Y. Thomason Co.*, 232 S.C. 153, 156, 101 S.E.2d 286, 288 (1957) (holding appeals from the Commission are governed by the same principles that apply in ordinary civil actions, and appellate "courts can consider only matters that were before the Commission and as to which error has been specifically assigned").

II. **The Full Commission's determinations that Appellant does not have asthma and to afford "no weight" to the medical records and medical opinions of Dr. Feldman are not affected by an error of law and should be affirmed because they are supported by substantial evidence.**

A. **Substantial evidence in the record supports the Full Commission's finding regarding the weight to be given to Dr. Feldman's medical records and medical opinions.**

After reviewing the totality of the evidence, including the medical records and testimony of numerous physicians, and live testimony of Appellant himself and several other Kohler witnesses, the Full Commission properly found Dr. Feldman's reports and testimony "to be highly suspect" and "lacking in credibility." (R. pp. 65, 78, 86). Likewise, it correctly concluded Dr. Feldman's opinions should be afforded "no weight." (*Id.*) Substantial evidence in the record supports the Full Commission's decision; therefore, this Court should affirm. See *Howell*, 291 S.C. at 471, 354 S.E.2d at 385 (holding findings of the Full Commission may not be overturned by a reviewing Court unless clearly unsupported by substantial evidence); *Bass v. Kenco Group*, 366 S.C. 450, 458, 622 S.E.2d 577, 581 (Ct. App. 2005) (holding it is well established that the final determination of witness credibility and the weight to be accorded evidence is reserved for the Full Commission).

Importantly, evidence in the record reveals Dr. Feldman diagnosed Appellant with asthma on the first visit, September 23, 2009, without performing any actual medical examinations during the visit. (R. pp. 432-33, 719-22, 727, 732, 760). Additionally, he diagnosed Appellant with occupational asthma without reviewing Appellant's work history, exposure, or even what substance Appellant worked around that allegedly resulted in his occupational asthma. (*Id.*) He admitted he never looked at Appellant's past medical history. (R. 729, 731, 743). Rather, the record simply includes a wholly unsupported conclusion reached by Dr. Feldman that Appellant suffered from occupational asthma. (R. pp. 432-33). Dr. Feldman's testimony and records reveal he diagnosed Appellant with occupational asthma because of a cough and wheezing without any other

examination. (*Id.*) He did not wait until a more comprehensive examination was conducted that included lung function studies. (R. pp. 719, 724, 727, 732, 760). During Appellant's second visit on September 25, 2009, Dr. Feldman again diagnosed Appellant with occupational asthma. (R. pp. 429-430). As with the September 23 visit, his medical records from the second visit lack any history of Appellant's exposure to any substance whatsoever and contain no medical history of Appellant. (R. p. 428-30). Moreover, Dr. Feldman's PFTs state the results should be interpreted with care because Appellant failed to provide reproducible spirometry and his lung function values were wildly variable. (R. p. 431, 762). Dr. Feldman, apparently aware of the fact that even the spirometry machine itself was suspicious of Appellant's testing, testified that his diagnosis was based upon "severe wheezing" which was so severe that he could ignore or discount the inconsistent lung function tests. (R. pp. 728, 731-32, 760). However, his alleged finding of severe wheezing was completely undermined by Dr. Chandler, who saw Appellant the same day, performed a full cardiac evaluation, and noted Appellant did not have *any* wheezing, let alone severe wheezing. (R. p. 515). Dr. Feldman testified this severe wheezing was the first, and most important, criteria he used in determining whether an individual has asthma. (R. p. 725). Yet, Appellant's "severe wheezing" was *not* noted on *any* medical records from *any* doctors prior to his visit with Dr. Feldman even though Appellant testified he had been having these symptoms, and they were worsening, for no less than eighteen months prior to the visit.

Furthermore, Dr. Feldman's September 25, 2009 medical record contained no discussion of the following: (1) the percentage of acetic acid Appellant allegedly used, (2) how frequently Appellant used the acetic acid, (3) when Appellant began using it, (4) whether Appellant was still using it, (5) the fact that Appellant had not been around acetic acid in any form since July 20, 2009, and (6) the fact that Appellant had not used acetic acid regularly since April 2009. (R. pp. 428-

30). Dr. Feldman testified that although he normally completed a more thorough report of his patients, he could find no such report for either the September 23, 2009 visit or the September 25, 2009 visit. (R. pp. 717-19, 759).

In addition to the lack of any documented medical records discussed above, Dr. Feldman's deposition testimony revealed he had no real understanding of Appellant's actual exposure to acetic acid, and even at one point testified that he thought Appellant's symptoms were based upon a large, one-time exposure, which was not the case. (R. pp. 746, 758-59). He stated he relied upon a temporal relationship in determining occupational asthma in Appellant, but again, he had no knowledge of Appellant's prior work or medical history sufficient enough to establish a temporal relationship. (R. pp. 743-46). He did not even know Appellant had not worked at the plant for almost two months at the time he first saw Appellant. (R. p. 755). Indubitably, Dr. Feldman could not testify about the irritant properties or concentration levels in the workplace because he did not know this information. (R. pp. 743-44, 776).

Along with having very little knowledge of Appellant's work history, Dr. Feldman was evasive throughout the entire deposition and provided responses which never actually answered the questions posed to him. For example, he was evasive when Kohler asked him whether he would expect Appellant to have had an increase in symptoms during the time Appellant worked with acetic acid between 2007 and 2009—when Appellant alleged his condition worsened—even though no asthma symptoms were recorded in Appellant's medical records during that period. The following exchange occurred:

[Kohler]. But if he's continued to be exposed to acetic acid and  
[Appellant] tells Dr. Fogarty that he believes he had  
the symptoms starting in 2007, would you not expect

an exacerbation of those symptoms prior to seeing  
you in September of 2009?

[Dr. Feldman]. Well, let me answer this question the best I can. I

would never blame a patient. Ever.

(R. p. 792). He never answered this question and commented several more times about not blaming a patient. (R. pp. 792-794).

Furthermore, Dr. Feldman's testimony did not match his records. For example, he testified that on September 23, 2009, he examined Appellant, performed breathing tests, and diagnosed him with asthma. (R. pp. 717-18). However, his notes reflect none of that; rather, the first lung function studies were conducted on September 25, 2009. (R. p. 431, 719, 732). Again, he claimed to have an extensive office note with a history but could not produce it and had no idea if it actually existed. (R. p. 759). Despite having a note from September 23, 2009, which had no actual examination information on it, Dr. Feldman testified that he concluded on this date Appellant was suffering from occupational asthma "definitively." (R. p. 720).

Dr. Feldman also could not testify as to when Appellant first reported any symptoms. (R. pp. 720-22). Yet, he stated Appellant had to have symptoms for three months in a row after the last date of exposure before a diagnosis of reactive airways dysfunction syndrome could be established, which as Dr. Feldman noted, would not have allowed a definitive diagnosis before October 2009, in actuality, November 2009. (R. pp. 721-22). Therefore, even by his own standards, his September 23, 2009 diagnosis was two months too soon and yet he reached his conclusions "definitively." (R. p. 720).

Notably, Dr. Feldman placed no real importance on spirometry, even though Dr. Fogarty and Dr. Sahn relied upon it to determine the status of Appellant's lung functioning. (R. pp. 505-

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